STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

Appellate Case Number 2014-000636

Mare Baracco,.....Appellant

v.

Beaufort County, South Carolina.....Respondent,

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED

DEC 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Mare Baracco
Pro Se Appellant

Mare Baracco
1006 Madrid Avenue
Port Royal, SC 29935

(843) 592-1062

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY (BCSO) HAVE JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THEIR ORDINANCE VIOLATION (OFFICIAL NOTICE) TO THE APPELLANT AND DID THE AGENCY/BEAUFORT COUNTY VIOLATE THE APPELLANTS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT HAVE JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER?
- III. DID THE RESPONDENT ENGAGE IN EX PARTE COMMUNICATION WITH THE MAGISTRATE COURT AND THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TOWN OF PORT ROYAL, TO GAIN AN UNFAIR ADVANTAGE AND ILLEGALLY CONTINUE A CASE AGAINST THE APPELLANT?
- IV. AS THE MAGISTRATE COURT USED TO CIRCUMVENT THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND HER RIGHT TO AN "ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING"?
- V. DID THE MAGISTRATE COURT ERR IN NOT DISMISSING THIS CASE WHEN THE RESPONDENT INFORMED THE COURT IT WAS NOT A CIVIL MATTER?
- VI. DOES THE "OFFICIAL NOTICE" VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS?
- VII. DO THE RESPONDENTS ACTIONS CONSTITUTE FRAUD, A "SHAM LEGAL PROCESS", BARRATRY, AND POLLUTION OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There was a brief incident, in the incorporated municipality of the Town of Port Royal, involving two dogs belonging to residents of the municipality, Sally Germer/Buddy(Homer) Brown, and the Appellant, July 4, 2012 (the Germer/Brown's dog died later, as a result). That same day, July 4 Appellant was issued a ticket for an (alleged) violation of Port Royal Ordinance 3-53, ROA p. 90 ("*Animal at Large*" et. seq.), pursuant to Port Royal's Code of Ordinances, by Officer Lance Puryear with the Port Royal Police Department. ROA p. 90, ROA p. 105. The matter was adjudicated November 8, 2012 by a jury trial, presided by Judge Ned Tupper, in Port Royal Municipal Court, which had territorial, personal, and subject matter jurisdiction over this case. The jury heard testimony from Officer Puryear, the Germer/Browns, and the Appellant. The jury found for the Appellant and she was acquitted of violating Ordinance 3-53. ROA p. 91, ROA p. 103-104.

The same day of this incident, July 4, 2012 Beaufort County Sheriff's Office (BCSO) Animal Control (AC) was also contacted (as Animal Control was under the administrative agency of BCSO at that time). However, BCSO AC was closed for the holiday. Therefore, as stated above, the incident was addressed by the Town of Port Royal Police Department, pursuant to their code of ordinances. Unless the Port Royal Officer determined the Appellant's dog should be impounded, which he did not, the services of BCSO AC were not needed.

It is the issuance of an "*Official Notice*" of Dangerous Animal July 9, 2012, by the Agency BCSO/Beaufort County, to the Appellant, and the events leading up to the March

12, 2013 hearing in the Beaufort County Magistrate Court and the subsequent Order from this hearing, that are the subject of this Appeal.

I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY (BCSO) HAVE JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THEIR ORDINANCE VIOLATION (OFFICIAL NOTICE) TO THE APPELLANT AND DID THE AGENCY/ BEAUFORT COUNTY VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?

BCSO ACO Deputy Chaplin entered the municipality July 5, 2012 and proceeded to conduct an investigation and *determination* of the incident from July 4, 2012 on behalf and pursuant to, *Beaufort County's Code of Ordinances for Animal Control 14-35*, which was in direct violation of both the Home Rule Act of 1975 and Article VIII of the South Carolina Constitution. ROA p. 106-108.

The only way BCSO ACO Chaplin could have legally issued an ordinance violation, to the Appellant, a resident of the Town of Port Royal, under Beaufort County Ordinances for Animal Control 14-35, was if Beaufort County and the Town of Port Royal had either adopted each other's Ordinances, which they did not, or the Town of Port Royal had a contract for Animal Services, which they did not.

The initial error in this matter began when the Port Royal Police Department did not inform BCSO ACO Chaplin this issue had already been addressed by Port Royal. This error was compounded by BCSO ACO Chaplin who, acting as an "Ordinance Officer", did not understand she *lacked jurisdiction* to extend Beaufort County's "*Official Notice*" and Ordinances into the municipality, and/or that she lacked proper training and/or did not understand the jurisdiction of her agency and the limitations thereof.

In regard to "*Determinations*", it was *always* the Port Royal officer, who issued the ticket, whose determination was controlling, not BCSO ACO Chaplin – she was subordinate to the host jurisdiction, pursuant to "Home Rule", and thus lacked any legal

authority to act as the controlling law enforcement agency in this situation.

Even if BCSO AC had been open July 4, 2012, and Chaplin came out first, she was *still* legally obliged, under “Home Rule” and Article VIII of the South Carolina Constitution, as an *Ordinance Officer*, to follow the Ordinances of the host jurisdiction, in this case Port Royal, and would still have had to act pursuant to the municipality’s Code of Ordinances 3-53.

BCSO/Beaufort County knew or should have known, since Appellant was a resident of the *municipality*, the Town of Port Royal, any actions they took in regard to this matter were void in the following ways: (1) they acted without authority in another jurisdiction; (2) they were not in pursuit of the Appellant to enforce one of their own ordinances that Appellant would have had to violate while in their jurisdiction to confer their jurisdiction upon her (Section 17-13-40 of the *South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as Amended*). They, in fact, pursued her without warrant or any other authority when they entered upon her property to observe her personal property, investigated a matter that was not within their proper perusal, and acted without any proper jurisdiction when they issued an **unapproved** “*Official Notice*” pursuant to an Ordinance of their jurisdiction. Therefore, they were not, and could not confer upon themselves they were the proper Administrative Agency, under whose ordinances Appellant was subject to and required to be subject to their procedures when contesting the same. The Town of Port Royal did not adopt the ordinances of Beaufort County, and when Beaufort County acted within the jurisdiction of the Town of Port Royal, it was required to act upon the direction and control of the municipality.

In spite of this lack of jurisdiction and authority, BCSO ACO Chaplin conducted an investigation on behalf of BCSO and Beaufort County on July 5, 2012 and provided to the Appellant a report that she found the Appellant's dog, Bodi "*not dangerous and she was impressed with the canine's behavior*" (ROA p. 93-94). She returned on July 9, 2012 and served upon the Appellant an "*Official Notice*" of Dangerous Animal pursuant to Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35, which set in motion a series of astounding events that have led the Appellant to the steps of this Honorable Court. ROA p. 92.

The Appellant immediately contacted BCSO July 9 to contest the "*Official Notice*". BCSO AC Supervisor Lt. Jerry Spencer instructed the Appellant to write to the Chief Magistrate of Beaufort County to request a hearing before the Beaufort County Magistrate Court. ROA p. 101-102. (Note: the Appellant referenced SC Title 43 in her letter; this was a typo – she meant Title 47). This was the wrong procedure to direct the Appellant to; Lt. Spencer should have known ACO Chaplin improperly/illegally issued this "*Notice*" to the Appellant, because Beaufort County had no contract with the municipality to provide services, and they had not adopted each other's Ordinances. Further, that the Appellant was contesting the "*determination of an employee of an agency*", and therefore she was entitled, by law, to an "Administrative Hearing" pursuant to Title One, Chapter 23, Article 3 1-23-310 et. seq. (if Beaufort County had jurisdiction in this matter). This was not a civil matter; therefore, this direction by Spencer was wholly wrong and thus continued the vitiation of the Appellant's right to due process and a fair hearing. Due to these failures, Appellant lacks, and lacked throughout this unlawful procedure, the pre-requisite important documents, including, but not limited to, the (most important

document) the written Administrative Decision/Order, a proper Notice of Hearing, and a complete Administrative Agency Contested Hearing Record from which she would not be further prejudiced in the review of any appellant judicial entity. By instructing the Appellant to (essentially) request a hearing against her own interests and then establishing this hearing in the incorrect court, it is clear the Agency's own agent, Lt. Spencer, had no idea of the correct avenue with which to proceed when a citizen contested this "*Official Notice*", particularly as the "*Notice*" does not contain any reference to the correct process and/or procedure by which to challenge it. Given that the fifth and fourteenth amendments of the Constitution provide that no one shall be "deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law", it's the Appellant's contention that *the agency itself* had no idea how to proceed, because they had no written policy statements, written procedures, or description of the forms used by the Agency; therefore they could not, and did not, act in a manner consistent with upholding the Appellant's federally guaranteed due process rights.

This civil hearing, at the direction of Lt. Spencer, was heard August 8, 2012 before Beaufort County Magistrate Joseph Kline and "prosecuted" by BCSO ACO Brittany Chaplin. Judge Kline upheld the "*Notice*". However, Judge Kline conducted outside research on the dog's breed and his ruling was appealed to the Master in Equity Marvin Dukes, who overturned Kline's ruling December 28, 2012 and remanded. ROA p. 11-12. In the intervening time, the Appellant was acquitted by the aforementioned jury trial November 8, 2012 in the Port Royal Municipal Court, the correct court of record, with jurisdiction in this case, of the entirety of Port Royal Ordinance 3-53. After the acquittal

(and the overturning of Kline's ruling), there was no probable cause to continue this case. ROA, p. 19; l. 20 -25, p. 20; l. 1-15.

II. DID THE LOWER COURT HAVE JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER?

Pursuant to Home Rule and Article VIII of the South Carolina, counties and cities are viewed as co-equal political subdivisions which are independent of each other politically, geographically, and governmentally. *City of Richmond v. Board of Supervisors of Henrico County*, 199 Va. 679, 101 S.E.2d 641 (1958); *Murray v. City of Roanoke*, 194 Va. 321, 64 S.E.2d 804 (1951). *Hobb v. Abrams*, 104 Idaho 205, 657 P.2d 1073 (1983). According to the South Carolina Attorney General's Opinion of August 10, 2011 re "enforcement of a county ordinance within an incorporated municipality". ROA p. 110-113. Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution further supports that "a county could not exercise power within an unincorporated municipality unless such agreement existed or, in effect, the municipality has assented to the county's exercise of power". And, "municipalities are afforded their own sovereign police powers and just because the municipality has not chosen to exercise its powers in a particular area does not give the county the inherent power to regulate the matter within the municipality". Also, "a municipality may choose to enforce a county ordinance within its boundaries by entering into an agreement with the county". There was never any agreement between the Town of Port Royal and Beaufort County to either adopt the other's ordinances for Animal Control. There was and is no contract with the Town of Port Royal for Animal Services.

Further, "Jurisdiction, once challenged, cannot be assumed and must be decided."

Basso v. Utah Power & Light Co., 495 F2d 906, 910. “Defense of lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter may be raised at any time, even on appeal.” *Hill Top Developers v. Holiday Pines Service Corp.*, 478 So2d 368 (Fla 2nd DCA 1985).

“A court cannot confer jurisdiction where none existed and cannot make a void proceeding valid. It is clear and well established law that a void order can be challenged in any court.” *Old Wayne Mut. L. Assoc. v. McDonough*, 204 US 8, 27 S. Ct. 236 (1907).

“Once jurisdiction is challenged, the court cannot proceed when it clearly appears that the court lack jurisdiction, the court has no authority to reach merits, but rather should dismiss the action.” *Melo v. U.S.*, 505 F2d 1026. “Once challenged, jurisdiction cannot be assumed, it must be proved to exist.” *Stuck v. Medical Examiners*, 94 Ca2d 751. 211 P2d 389. “There is no discretion to ignore that lack of jurisdiction.” *Joyce v. US*, 474 F2d 215. “The burden shifts to the court to prove jurisdiction.” *Rosemond v. Lambert*, 469 F2d 416.

Appellant further contends that in each instance she has asserted the lack of jurisdiction or contested any other matters in this case, and the Administrative Agency and their courts have proceeded regardless in their pursuit of this matter, they have deprived her of one or more of her constitutional rights, including, but not limited to, due process.

“The privileges and immunities of citizens of this State and the United States Shall not be abridge, nnor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, and property without due process of law, nor shall any person be denied the protection of the law.”
Article 1, Section 3, South Carolina Constitution.

III. DID THE RESPONDENT ENGAGE IN EX PARTE COMMUNICATION WITH THE MAGISTRATE COURT AND THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TOWN OF PORT ROYAL, TO GAIN AN UNFAIR ADVANTAGE AND TO ILLEGALLY CONTINUE THIS CASE?

Unbeknownst to the Appellant, e-mails and phone calls were exchanged directly after Judge Dukes's remand of December 28 2012, between agents of the Town of Port Royal, Sally Germer (the other party in this case), agents of BCSO, Beaufort County Attorney Josh Gruber, and the Chief Magistrate of the Beaufort County Magistrate Court, in order to, the Appellant contends, illegally continue this case against her. ROA p. 23, l. 14-18. ROA p. 114-121.

When Lt. Spencer directed the Appellant to the Beaufort Magistrate Court, as a civil matter, as opposed to what was the legally correct venue and process, an "Administrative Hearing", before a council or board, Spencer committed a grievous error in procedure; not intentionally, the Appellant believes, but due to a lack of training, knowledge or competence, and compounded by his failure to recognize the jurisdictional issues. Lt. Spencer should have reviewed the entirety of the matter with his superiors at BSCO prior to making any decisions and should have first confirmed whether they had jurisdiction to proceed.

The Appellant contends, based upon the actions of the Respondent *after* the remand by Judge Dukes December 28, 2012, the Respondent knew Beaufort County did not have jurisdiction, they knew by this time that the correct process should always have been an "*Administrative Hearing*", and thereafter used the Beaufort County Courts to circumvent the Appellant's civil rights and right to due process. In addition, on the audio

recording from a “Rule to Show Cause” on May 2, 2013, before Magistrate Richard Brooks, the Respondent, Josh Gruber, states for the record, that *“it’s not a civil matter, she’s not being asked to pay a fine, it’s not a criminal matter, it’s administrative”*.

The Appellant received, as previously noted, communications between the Respondent(s) and the Town of Port Royal, including an e-mail referencing communication with the Chief Magistrate of Beaufort County Magistrate Court, which she preserved for the record in the Motion 60 Hearing before Master in Equity Marvin Dukes February 21, 2014, along with preserving the issues of jurisdiction and due process, prior to filing her appeal before this Court:

(ROA, p. 14, l. 22-25; p. 15, l. 6-22; p. 16, l. 19 – 25; p. 17, l. 1-3; p. 20, l. 19-24; p. 22, l. 13-24; p. 27, l. 13-25; p. 31 l. 3-25; p. 32, l. 1-2; p. 33, l. 9-25; p. 34, l. 19-25; p. 35, l. 24-25; p. 36, l. 1-25; p. 37, l. 1-14).

If the agents, *and attorney* of the Town of Port Royal, or the solicitor engaged by the Town of Port Royal, believed the hearing in the Port Royal Municipal Court, the proper jurisdiction for this matter, was in some way deficient or, the cause of justice was not served, the Town of Port Royal had the option to appeal the matter. And they did not. Rather, these agents proceeded, secretly, with the cooperation and assistance of agents of Beaufort County *and* the other party in this matter, Sally Germer, to illegally continue this case and disenfranchise an (innocent) resident, the Appellant. The Court will take specific notice of the e-mail from attorney Josh Gruber, referencing his telephone call to the Chief Magistrate, wherein Gruber requests a different judge be assigned. The

Appellant contends by this action, Gruber gained an unfair advantage in establishing this (unwarranted) case against her Supplemental Memorandum to Rule 60 Motion; ROA p. 28, l. 20-25; p. 29, l. 1-25; p. 30, l. 1-5. ROA p. 99-100. The Respondent claimed in this Motion 60 Hearing that he spoke with the Appellant's former attorney and they mutually agreed to request an alternate magistrate. The Appellant contends this is untrue and the e-mail from the Respondent discussing his conversation with the Chief Magistrates supports her claim. If, in fact, the Appellant's former attorney had been contacted, she would have been cc'd on the email (and most certainly before Port Royal Town Manager Van Willis). In addition, a new judge was *essential* to the Respondent's plan. If the initial Judge, Kline, re-heard the case, Kline would, as a matter of rote, had the Respondent and the Appellant assume the same roles as before, that of *Plaintiff* and *Defendant*, respectively. The Respondent therefore required a new judge for this subsequent hearing, in order to **change the designation of the parties** and thus intentionally use the summary court in order to hold a "quasi-judicial" abridged version of an administrative hearing.

IV. WAS THE MAGISTRATE COURT USED TO CIRCUMVENT THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND HER RIGHT TO AN "ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING?"

A bewildered Appellant was again summoned to the Beaufort County Magistrate Court, by use of a defective, invalid "*Rule to Show Cause*", mailed to the Appellant, summoning her to this hearing under false pretenses. ROA p. 95. Defective, because it was not properly served by either a sheriff or a process server, pursuant to SC Rule 14, it did not contain the requisite affidavit or verified petition, nor the "Order" she was alleged

to have violated, and other supporting documentation required by SCRCR Rule 14.

According to Rule 14:

The supporting affidavit or verified petition shall identify the court order, decree or judgment which the responding party has allegedly violated, the specific act(s) or omission(s) which constitute contempt, and the specific relief which the moving party is seeking. Such court order, decree or judgment shall be attached to the affidavit or certified petition.

The failure to support the “Rule to Show Cause” by an affidavit or verified petition is a “fatal defect” *Toyota of Florence v. Lynch* 314 S.C. 257, 442 S.E. 2d 611 (1994)(citing *State v. Blackwell*, 10 S.C. 35 (1878)).

Under false pretenses, as the case was remanded; it was a *new* hearing. The Appellant was not in contempt of an “Order”; the Appellant had never actually been charged with anything by Beaufort County, rather; she contested their “*Official Notice*” a “*determination of an employee of an agency*”. This March transcript supports the Appellant’s claim; the Respondent(s) knew an “*Administrative Hearing*” pursuant to Chapter 23 should have been afforded the Appellant, to comply with her constitutional right to due process when she contested the “*Notice*” July 10, 2012; Appellant appeared as summoned, as the Defendant, March 12, 2013 for this “*Rule to Show Cause*” hearing before Judge Richard Brooks. As the Court will note from the transcript of this hearing, a meeting was held in chambers. Immediately thereafter, Judge Brooks ruled in the Appellant as the “Defendant”, the Respondent made a Motion. ROA, p. 61, l. 1-25; p. 62,

1. 1-4.

Now, instead of a “*Rule to Show Cause*”, with the Appellant summoned to answer to this (alleged) non-existent contempt, with the burden on the Plaintiff to prove a prima facie case against the Defendant, the Appellant’s designation was promptly changed from the “*Defendant*” to the “*Appellant*”, and the hearing into a “*Court of Appellate Judicial Review*”. A summary court cannot be a court of Appellate Judicial Review; the Appellant contends this action was a total violation of the Rules of Civil Procedure and of her right to due process, and was done intentionally to circumvent/suppress her right to a proper “Quasi-Judicial” hearing before a Council or Board. And, according to the Summary Court Judges Bench Book (SC Judicial Department) “*In all civil actions in magistrates' courts, the party beginning a case is known as the plaintiff and the party defending against the plaintiff's claim is the defendant. The SCRMC and Rule 17 SCRPC, sets out the body of rules applicable to all such matters*”.

From this point, the Court will take note this hearing was “seeded” with verbiage and legal jargon, by the Respondent, that’s only suitable and relative for an “*Administrative Hearing*”. ROA, p. 82; p. 88, l. 5-25; p. 88, l. 1-4.

Judge Brooks upheld the “*Notice*”; thereafter, the Appellant could not win on Appeal because the decision by Judge Brooks was now considered an “*Administrative Determination*”, and the standard to overturn it is from a different judicial process (again Quasi-Judicial) of statutes, standards and methodology, and, the “bar” to overturn an “*Administrative Determination*” is considerably higher than a ruling by a Magistrate

Court Judge from a summary court hearing. ROA p. 10. The Appellant would request this Court take note of the testimony of the Respondent, Ms. Coppage, regarding this “very high burden”. ROA, p. 55, l. 23-25; p. 56, l. 1-25; p. 57, l. 1-7

– Ms. Coppage quotes directly from:

CHAPTER 23, State Agency Rule Making and Adjudication of Contested Cases,
SECTION 1-23-380. Judicial review upon exhaustion of administrative remedies: **(e)**
clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record

Ms. Coppage: Regarding the last point, the standard for the municipal court finding would have been beyond a reasonable doubt as opposed to here it's arbitrary and capricious. And you are dealing with two different standards and, hence, why we are probably arriving at two different findings.

Going through the—I did want to address something I did not address earlier is the newly introduced evidence. I think that is separate and apart from this appeal. It doesn't go to showing this was an arbitrary finding.

I do believe that there was substantial evidence in the record that supports the court's finding. And that the fact are not in dispute at this point. The only thing we are looking at is whether or not there is an error of law before us.

And the definition is clear and the facts are also very clear in support of Judge Brook's return.

Judge Dukes: And again, the standard I have to live by with regard to an appeal of an administrative decision, which is exactly what this is, is what?—I always have to look it up. We don't do many of these here.

*Ms. Coppage: A court can reverse an agency's finding, inferences, conclusions, or decisions only if there are clearly erroneous—if they are only **clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole of the record.***

Judge Dukes: So it's a pretty high burden.

Ms. Coppage: It's a very high burden.

Thus, the Order from Judge Dukes of this Appeal, from October 16, 2013 then states: ***“The issues raised by the pleadings concern whether the Magistrate Court erred as a matter of law in determining that the Respondent met the burden of proof in affirming the administrative decision and whether there was a question of fact as to where the incident occurred.”*** Then Judge Dukes subsequently references S.C. Code Ann. 1-23-380(5). And the Order from Judge Dukes, from March 20, 2014 (from the Motion 60 hearing) makes the same reference that it's an “Administrative Determination”. ROA p. 8-9. ROA p. 4-5.

The Appellant contends the aforementioned supports her argument the Magistrate Court was used to circumvent her rights to due process, right to a fair hearing, and her right (if Beaufort County had jurisdiction) to an “Administrative Hearing”.

V. DID THE MAGISTRATE COURT ERR IN NOT DISMISSING THIS CASE WHEN THE RESPONDENT INFORMED THE COURT IT WAS NOT A CIVIL MATTER?

Appellant received a telephone from her (former) attorney Kimberly Smith, the afternoon of May 1, 2013 informing her a hearing had been scheduled for the following

morning, May 2, 2013, because of “unspecified neighbor complaints”. Unbeknownst to the Appellant, the Magistrate Court had mailed two (defective) “*Rule to Show Cause(s)*” without supporting documentation, in violation of SCRCF Rule 14, directly to attorney Smith’s office, in violation of her due process rights under Rule 14(ROA, p. 26, l. 24-25, p. 27, l. 1)(ROA p. 96); (Respondent (Allison))

Ms. Coppage: At the time Ms. Baracco was represented by Kimberly Smith who was provided with notice.

e) Service. The rule to show cause shall be served with the supporting affidavit or verified petition by personal delivery of a duly filed copy thereof to the responding party by the Sheriff, his deputy or by any other person not less than eighteen (18) years of age, not an attorney in or a party to the action. (Emphasis added)

Note:

The manner of service provided by Rule 14, SCRCF, is consistent with standard practice in all courts as provided by Rules 4(c) and 4(d), SCRCF, with the exception that the rule to show cause and supporting affidavit or verified petition are to be served by personal delivery upon the responding party.

Personal service as specified within Rule 14(e) ensures due process by facilitating reliable service directly upon the responding party.

The Appellant asks the Court to take judicial notice, again pursuant to SCRCF Rule 14: “*The supporting affidavit or verified petition shall identify the court order, decree or judgment which the responding party has allegedly violated, the specific act(s) or*

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