THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
South Carolina Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

JAN 06 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2014-000636
Beaufort County Case No.: 2013-CP-07-00918

MARE BARACCO.....Appellant,

vs.

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mary Bass Lohr
Howell, Gibson & Hughes, P.A.
Post Office Box 40
Beaufort, SC 29901
(843) 522-2400
(843) 522-2429 (fax)
mlohr@hghpa.com

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ISSUES ON APPEAL AS SET FORTH BY BARACCO ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

Mare Baracco bases her appeal on seven grounds, none of which were issues raised to or ruled upon by Judge Dukes in his original order. The only issue of error raised to Judge Dukes on appeal was with respect to the sufficiency of the evidence upon which Judge Brooks order denying the revocation of the dangerous animal notice. That issue is not appealed in this appeal. Moreover, the issues appealed from herein were never raised to Judge Brooks either. Thus, it is respectfully submitted that the error complained of by Baracco is not preserved for review by the Appellate Courts.

"Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006). At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). It is "axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Id. Imposing such a requirement on the appellant "is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal. Glover v.

Cnty. of Charleston, 361 S.C. 634, 606 S.E.2d 773 (2004) *overruled on other grounds by* Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005); see also Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995) (holding that a due process claim raised for the first time on appeal was not preserved).

Baracco appeals that the court erred in the following aspects in its October 16, 2013 and March 20, 2014 orders: 1) Beaufort County did not have jurisdiction to issue her a dangerous animal ordinance violation notice; 2) that the magistrate's court did not have jurisdiction over the matter but rather the ALC did; 3) that the magistrate's court was used to circumvent Baracco's right to due process; 4) that that the magistrate's court erred in not dismissing the case when the respondent informed the court it was not a civil matter (involving the May 2, 2013 Rule to Show Cause hearing); 6) that the "official notice" violated the appellant's right to due process; and 7) that the respondent's actions constitute fraud, a "sham legal process," barratry, and pollution of the administration of justice.

Not one of these issues was raised to or ruled upon the magistrate or at the appeal hearing to the circuit court. **(R. pp. 8-10, 38-89)**. Baracco first makes the challenge based on the case being administrative in nature for the first time at the Rule 60 Motion hearing, and the other arguments were never raised below. Moreover, the fifth issue involved a hearing and order that was unappealed by Baracco, i.e. the May 2013 Rule to Show Cause hearing. Clearly, the general principals of error preservation should apply in this case. Baracco should be

precluded from raising a multitude of issues for the first time on appeal having never addressed them to the lower court. Based on the foregoing, Baracco's appeal should be dismissed as the error she alleges was not preserved for appellate review.

II. THE NOTICE PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY WAS PROPER AND AUTHORIZED BY S.C. CODE ANN. §47-3-710 AND WOULD HAVE PROVIDED DUE PROCESS TO BARACCO.

Baracco takes exception to Beaufort County's handling of and the notice given to her that her dog had been deemed a dangerous animal citing numerous problems from the fact that the Beaufort County acted outside of its jurisdictional boundaries in issuing the dangerous animal notice, to the fact she claims she was entitled to an administrative hearing before the ALC, to the assertion that the dangerous animal notice violated her right to due process. These arguments both lack merit and are a result of a process that Baracco herself put in motion.

This case arises from an incident that occurred on July 4, 2012 in which Mare Baracco's Rhodesian Ridge Back mix escaped his enclosure and attacked and killed another dog. As a result of this incident Baracco was notified by the County on July 9, 2012, that the dog had been declared dangerous and that she was being given 72 hours to comply with the requirements for owning a dangerous animal and the penalties should she fail to comply. (R. p. 92). The notice advises the animal owner of the requirements of having a dangerous animal in Beaufort County and the penalties should the owner not meet those requirements

Title 47 Chapter 3 Article 13 deals with the regulation of Dangerous Animals in the entire state of South Carolina. As part of that Article, S.C. Code Ann. § 47-3-710 defines a dangerous animal, §47-3-720 provides that no person owning a dangerous animal can allow it to go unconfined and §47-3-760 provides for penalties for violations of the provisions of sections 720 and 730 and 760(E). Additionally §47-3-760(E) requires that

A person owning a dangerous animal shall register the animal with the ***local law enforcement authority of the county*** in which the owner resides. ***The requirements of the registration must be determined by the county governing body.*** (emphasis added)

In Beaufort County, the ownership of a “dangerous animal” is regulated by Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35. This ordinance largely mirrors the provisions of §47-3-710 *et seq.* However, while state law is silent as to how an animal is determined to be a “dangerous animal,” Beaufort County’s requirements for registration and regulation of a “dangerous animal” pursuant to Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35(b) allows an animal control officer to declare an animal to be a dangerous animal by delivering a written notice of declaration to the owner. The notice gives the owner of the animal declared to be dangerous 72 hours to comply with the requirements for owning the dangerous animal set forth under Ordinance 14-35 before they are in criminal violation of the ordinance, giving them the benefit of a warning that they may be in violation of the law --- an extra protection from criminal penalty not provided under state law.

Baracco has complained that Beaufort County’s ordinance should not have applied to her and the Beaufort County animal control officer was without authority to declare her dog to be a dangerous animal. However, as set forth

above, in order to comply with state law, Baracco was required to comply with the requirements as set forth by the **County** governing body. Thus, the actions taken by the animal control officer (at that time also a deputy sheriff) in making an administrative declaration that Baracco's dog was a dangerous animal and then providing Baracco with the "dangerous animal notice" where completely authorized under the law of South Carolina as set forth at S.C. Code 47-3-760(E).

Baracco herself placed this matter before the Magistrate's Court when on July 10, 2012, Baracco wrote a letter to the Beaufort County Magistrate's Court requesting a hearing on "an injunction/revocation of issuance of 'Dangerous Animal Notice.'" (R. pp. 101-02). While there was no specific procedure to challenge the determination of the animal control officer outside the due process provided during a criminal trial, the magistrate is **also** permitted pursuant to Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35(a) to make the determination that an animal is dangerous. Thus, the County conceded to Baracco's request to the Magistrate that matter go before the magistrate to judicially determine if Baracco's dog should be deemed a "dangerous animal." This matter was heard first by Judge Kline but was remanded by Judge Dukes for a subsequent re-hearing before Judge Brooks. Judge Brooks found, based on the evidence before him, that the animal was, in fact, dangerous and refused to revoke the declaration. The matter was then appealed to Judge Dukes who affirmed and now appealed to this court.

It is completely without merit that Baracco now contends that she was not provided due process. In fact, she had more than ample opportunity to be heard.

First, had she never requested the Magistrate's court hear the matter on July 10, 2012, ultimately, she would have been issued a criminal citation for failing to comply with S.C. Code 47-3-720, 730, or 760(E). If that had happened, she would have been given the opportunity to challenge the determination of the animal as a "dangerous animal" during the criminal proceeding. However, since she requested the Magistrate's court hear the matter before the issuance of the citation and because the County agreed to allow the magistrate to do so since the magistrate also had authority to deem the animal to be a dangerous animal, Baracco was provided the due process of a hearing prior to any resulting criminal charges. In fact, Baracco was provided with a level of due process by Beaufort County not required by S.C. Code Ann. §47-3-710 *et seq.*

Baracco also contends that somehow she was entitled to have this matter heard by the ALJ pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act. This argument is totally without merit and lacks any statutory support whatsoever. Baracco appears to have grasped upon this idea as a result of Beaufort County's characterization of this matter not as criminal (as the original erroneous caption of the this matter by either Baracco or the Magistrate's Court, State of South Carolina vs. Mare Baracco would seem to have indicated) but as an appeal from an administrative determination. In fact, the case began based on an administrative determination in the discretion of the animal control officer that Baracco's dog was a dangerous animal. The magistrate's court confirmed this administrative determination with its own judicial determination as authorized under Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35(a), and the matter was subsequently

appealed to the Circuit Court and now this Court. However, what is clear is that the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-310 *et seq.* would in no way apply as this controversy fits into none of the jurisdictional granting categories set forth in the APA.

Contrary to the multiple allegations of error in jurisdiction and violations of due process made by Baracco, it is clear that the procedure utilized in this matter was correct and authorized by both Beaufort County Ordinance 14-35 in conjunction with S.C. Code Ann. §47-3-760(E).

III. BARACCO'S ALLEGATIONS OF ERROR AND INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT ARE UNFOUNDED AND BASED ON HER MISUNDERSTANDING OF THE LEGAL PROCESS SHE INITIATED.